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Devon Archives and Local Studies  

Parish Information Page 

 

Hartland 

 

Hartland is located within Torridge local authority area. Historically it formed part of 

Hartland Hundred. It falls within Hartland Deanery for ecclesiastical purposes. The 

Deaneries are used to arrange the typescript Church Notes of B.F.Cresswell which are held 

in the Westcountry Studies Library.  

 

The population was 1546 in 1801 1634 in 1901 1455 in 1991. Figures for other years are 

available on the local studies website. In the valuation of 1334 it was assessed at £03/05/03. 

The lay subsidy of 1524 valued the community at £35/00/10. In 1641/2 453 adult males 

signed the Protestation returns. It is recorded as a borough from 1220. A market is recorded 

from 14c.-1888.  

 

A parish history file is held in Bideford Library.  You can look for other material on the 

community by using the place search on the main local studies database. Further historical 

information is also available on the Genuki website.  

 

Maps 

The image below is of the Hartland area on Donn's one inch to the mile survey of 1765. 

• On the County Series Ordnance Survey mapping the area is to be found on 1:2,500 

sheet 17/10  

• Six inch (1:10560) sheet 17SW 

• The National Grid reference for the centre of the area is SS260244 

• On the post 1945 National Grid Ordnance Survey mapping the sheets are: 

o Six inch to a mile (1:10,000) sheet SS22SE 

o Explorer (1:25,000) mapping sheet 126 

o Landranger (1:50,000) mapping sheet 190 

• Geological sheet 292 also covers the area 

 

Illustrations 

The image below is of Hartland as included in the Library's illustrations catalogue. Other 

images can be searched for on the local studies catalogue.  
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A fair is known from: 14c.-1888. An extract from 'The glove is up! Devon's historic fairs', by 

Tricia Gerrish, by kind permission of the author. 

 

Hartland Fair  LOCATION:  B3248. Off A39 Bideford to Bude road.  North West Devon 

 

ORIGINAL CHARTER:  1280 Edward I to Oliver de Dynham (also Dinham). 3 day fair at 

the feast of St Nectan (17th June) 

 

A GLOVE FAIR 

Oliver de Dynham, Lord of the Manor of Harton, or Herctone, received the first fairs 

charter in 1280, for a three day event at the feast of Saint Nectan.  In 1285 he 

obtained another, for a late autumn fair between 29th November and 1st 

December.  In 1559: the second year of Elizabeth I's reign, a further grant was made 

to Lewis Pollard (Recorder of Exeter), Robert Cary of Clovelly, William Abbott, Hugh 

Stucley and Hugh Prust of Gorven.  Fairs were to be held on Easter Tuesday, 

Wednesday and Thursday and at the feast of the Exaltation of the Holy Cross (14th 

September) for three days.  The profits from tolls and charges at these Elizabethan 

fairs were to be used to benefit the inhabitants of Harton (Hartland). 

 

The fair on St Nectan's Day almost certainly evolved into a Saint's Day 

revel.  Following the calendar change in 1752, Easter fair remained on Easter 

Wednesday and is listed by Owen and the Lysons and appears in 1890 

directories.  Holy Cross Fair's date moved to 25th September, which also appears in 
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both sources.  Other fairs took place at the West Country Inn, beginning in 

approximately 1879, on the first Wednesday in August and third Thursday in 

October, selling livestock.  In 1880 sheep and young oxen totalling 800 were sold 

there. 

 

All the fairs were noted for cattle sales.  Autumn fairs also traded sheep: fetching at 

least 30 shillings per ewe.  Fat hogs sold for the same sum on average in 1898; cows 

with calves:  £11 and £15.  At spring fair gypsies and tinkers camped, and sold 

horses.  

 

In early days the Easter and Holy Cross fairs at Hartland were Glove Fairs.  A pair of 

white gloves on a pole was hung from a window at the Town Hall for the 

duration.  Hartland's town accounts show a charge for these nearly every year: 'pd. 

for gloves att both ffaiores.'  Not in 1624 or 1625 however, when plague forced their 

cancellation.  Courts of Pie Powder: Pied Pouldre, or Poudre, were also held for the 

Easter and September fairs, under the Elizabethan charter, to settle disputes and 

check measures. 

 

Sales of livestock at the West Country Inn continued until approximately 1920, when 

they were supplanted by a monthly market.  This in turn ceased in about 

1963.  There are no press reports for the Easter and September fairs much beyond 

1900.  In 1899, R. Pearse Chope, in Notes of the Past (Hartland Chronicle) says that 

they were still held, 'although I fear they have lost much of their importance.' 

 

Extract from Devon by W.G.Hoskins (1954), included by kind permission of the copyright 

holder: 

 

Hartland is a small town and an immense parish of some 17,900 acres occupying the 

peninsula in the extreme NW. corner of Devon. It contains the most impressive cliff 

scenery in England and Wales, above all the iron coast from Hartland Point 

southwards (plate 22), with its coastal waterfalls. The sea-scapes are superb, for 

there is no land between this coast and America:  

Where on Hartland's tempest-furrowed shore Breaks the long swell from farthest 

Labrador.  

 

Inland the scenery is very Cornish in feeling: white farmhouses and cottages dotted 

about an immense grey land-scape, the clustered hamlets at intervals, grey stone 

and slate everywhere, even a Cornish name or two, like Trellick and Velly. One could 

write a chapter about this wide, buzzard-haunted countryside, so remote and 

withdrawn from the villainies of the human race, far from railways and the lunacies 

of the modern world. Buzzards sail slowly above the quiet combes, throwing their 

shadows on the sunlit slopes below, the wild bubbling cry of curlews is everywhere 

on the moory grounds above, swallows flash in and out of ancient slate-grey 

courtyards: it is a timeless scene.  

 

Hartland means "stag-island," though the district is in fact a peninsula. There are 

earthworks -"cliff castles"- at Embury Beacon and Windbury Head, perhaps 

associated originally with the immense Early Iron Age hill-fort of Clovelly Dykes. 
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Tradition says there was a third of these "cliff castles" at Hartland Point, now 

undermined by the sea. On Bursdon Moor there are numerous round barrows, 

probably of Bronze Age date, the beginning of a long series which is scattered across 

North Devon to the very summit of Exmoor. Hartland enters history as a royal estate. 

In his will King Alfred left it to Edward, his elder son, and it remained a royal 

possession until the reign of Canute who apparently granted it to Gytha on her 

marriage to Godwin. (Chope, The Book of Hartland, 19.) At the Norman Conquest it 

was seized by William, but soon after his death it was granted to one of the Dynham 

family (from Dinant in Brittany), in which family it descended until 1501. It was then 

divided among four co-heiresses, and the later history is somewhat complicated. Like 

so many ancient royal estates, Hartland gave its name to a hundred.  

 

Oliver de Dynham created a borough at Hartland c. 1290, having obtained (in 1280) 

the grant of a market and a three-day fair at the feast of St. Nectan. The town was 

too far removed from trade-routes to come to anything much. In the 18th century it 

was described as being as depressed-looking as a Cornish borough. Its market ceased 

about 1780. Nevertheless, the town grew steadily in numbers until the 1840s, and 

then began to decline. Today it has about 1,300 people, not much more than half the 

size of a hundred years ago. It is a pleasant little town, mostly of one street, with a 

few solid 18th-early 19th century houses of some character, and a number of old-

fashioned shops; the nearest railway station is Bideford (13 m.) but buses now run 

through it on the Bideford-Bude route, a fine run for scenery.  

 

The parish church (St. Nectan) is at Stoke, 2 m. W. It has a lofty 15th century tower 

(128 ft.) visible far out at sea. A collegiate church was founded here by Gytha c. 1050, 

and dedicated to St. Nectan, as a thank-offering for the escape of her husband Earl 

Godwin from shipwreck. In 1066 there were twelve canons here. This college of 

secular canons was refounded by Geoffrey de Dynham in 1169 as an Arroasian 

monastery of regular canons on a new site in the valley below. Nothing remains of 

Hartland Abbey today, except a fragment of the cloisters in the present house, which 

was rebuilt in 1779.  

 

The parish church perpetuates the old site of Gytha's collegiate church. It is a 

splendid building, and of the highest interest. The rood-screen (c. 1470) is 

magnificent, extending nearly 48 ft. across nave and aisles, and in perfect condition. 

The cornices are particularly rich; but the whole screen calls for detailed study. Many 

other features of the church call for notice: a splendid Norman font, carved bench-

ends (early 16th century) in the N. transept, the roofs, especially that of the N. 

chancel aisle, the priest's chamber in which Parson Hawker wrote "The Bell by the 

Sea," and the numerous floor-slabs and monuments to the gentry of the parish.  

 

The parish is dotted with interesting houses and most picturesque farmsteads, of 

which one can only recite a catalogue - South Hole, Docton, Eddistone, Milford, Long 

Furlong, and Blegberry, to name only a few. East Titchberry now belongs to the 

National Trust.  

 

Hartland Point one of the boldest headlands on the English coast, has generally been 

identified as the Hercules Promontory of Ptolemy's geography. A lighthouse was built 
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here in 1874, and a powerful foghorn installed. The summit of the headland was 

reduced in area for the protection of the lighthouse, but it is still an impressive and 

savage piece of coast. Hartland is another of those Devonshire parishes in which one 

could happily spend a week in leisurely exploration, better still a fortnight, and best 

of all in the spring; and one would always wish to return to it. A very good book has 

been written about it - Chope's Book of Hartland (1940) - which is indispensable to 

the explorer.  
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Hatherleigh 

 

Hatherleigh is located within West Devon local authority area. Historically it formed part of 

Black Torrington Hundred. It falls within Okehampton Deanery for ecclesiastical purposes. 

The Deaneries are used to arrange the typescript Church Notes of B.F.Cresswell which are 

held in the Westcountry Studies Library.  

 

The population was 1218 in 1801 1293 in 1901. Figures for other years are available on the 

local studies website. The lay subsidy of 1524 valued the community at £14/01/06. In 

1641/2 207 adult males signed the Protestation returns. It is recorded as a borough from 

1220. A market is recorded from 14c.-1985.  

 

A parish history file is held in Okehampton Library.  You can look for other material on the 

community by using the place search on the main local studies database. Further historical 

information is also available on the Genuki website.  

 

Maps 

The image below is of the Hatherleigh area on Donn's one inch to the mile survey of 1765. 

 

• On the County Series Ordnance Survey mapping the area is to be found on 1:2,500 

sheet 52/10,14  

• Six inch (1:10560) sheet 52SW] 

• The National Grid reference for the centre of the area is SS542045 

• On the post 1945 National Grid Ordnance Survey mapping the sheets are: 

o Six inch to a mile (1:10,000) sheet SS50SW 

o Explorer (1:25,000) mapping sheet 113 

o Landranger (1:50,000) mapping sheet 191 

• Geological sheet 324 also covers the area 

 

A fair is known from: 14c.-1935. [It is intended to include the local section from The glove is 

up! Devon's historic fairs, by Tricia Gerrish, by kind permission of the author].  

 

Extract from Devon by W.G.Hoskins (1954), included by kind permission of the copyright 

holder: 
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Hatherleigh like so many of the inland market towns of Devon, has been declining in 

population since the middle of the 19th century. It is a peaceful little place for those 

who like to absent themselves awhile from the felicities of modern science, for it has 

not changed much during the past century. The town contains much good domestic 

building in the local tradition, from the 16th century to the 19th. Some buildings may 

be older, behind their stucco and roughcast. The attractive George Hotel is probably 

1st and early 16th century, and may have been the court-house of the abbots of 

Tavistock, who held the manor from the late 10th century until the Dissolution. The 

Old Church House is a medieval building. The London Inn looks pre 16th century in 

part. The town suffered severely from a great fire about 1840, after which many of 

the houses were rebuilt and the principal street widened. It was part of the original 

endowment of Tavistock Abbey, founded about 974 by Ordulf, who had vast estates 

in North and West Devon. Sometime in the 13th century it was made a borough and 

given certain modest liberties, including that of having a borough court, but it was 

never incorporated, and continued to be governed, as it is today, by a portreeve and 

other officers.  

 

After the Dissolution, the manor and borough of Hatherleigh was sold by the Crown 

to the Arscotts, a rapidly rising family of gentry in West Devon. It never formed part 

of the vast block of Tavistock Abbey lands granted to John, Lord Russell, as Lysons 

surmises. At the beginning of the 19th century Hatherleigh was smaller than most of 

the old market towns, being in one of the poorest regions of Devon. Its woollen 

manufacture had also dwindled almost to nothing:  

The people are poor as Hatherleigh Moor, And so they have been for ever and ever.  

 

Hatherleigh Moor, formerly a waste of 430 acres, was given to the inhabitants for 

grazing their cattle and cutting furze for fuel. There is no truth in the tradition that it 

was the gift of John of Gaunt, who is not known ever to have had any rights in 

Hatherleigh. It is much more likely to have been a gift of one of the abbots of 

Tavistock. On the moor is St. John's Well, a "holy well," the water from which was 

formerly used at baptisms.  

 

Deckport, an Elizabethan house, was the home of John Lethbridge, gent., to whom 

there is a mural monument in Hatherleigh church (1706). Other houses and 

farmsteads on ancient sites are Essworthy, Fishleigh, Pulsworthy, Hannaborough, 

Passaford, Upcott, and Great Velliford. Jasper Mayne (1604- 72), chaplain to Charles 

II, and a dramatist of some note in his early life, was born at Hatherleigh.  

 

Hatherleigh church (St. John the Baptist) is mainly a 15th century building, built of 

red sandstone and possessing a shingled spire. A few 16th century carved benches 

remain, and an early 18th century pulpit and altar rails. The war memorial bears 

many very characteristic West Devon surnames - Battishill, Collacott, Cory, Ellacott, 

Fishleigh, Meardon, and Medland, all the names of farms (round about, and a 

reflection of the long stability of country life in these remoter parts.  
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Hawkchurch 

 

Hawkchurch is located within East Devon local authority area.  

 

A parish history file is held in Axminster Library. You can look for other material on the 

community by using the place search on the main local studies database. 

 

Maps 

The image below is of the Hawkchurch area on Donn's one inch to the mile survey of 1765. 

 

• On the County Series Ordnance Survey mapping the area is to be found on 1:2,500 

sheet 72/3  

• Six inch (1:10560) sheet 72NE 

• The National Grid reference for the centre of the area is ST343004 

• On the post 1945 National Grid Ordnance Survey mapping the sheets are: 

o Six inch to a mile (1:10,000) sheet ST30SW 

o Explorer (1:25,000) mapping sheet 029 

o Landranger (1:50,000) mapping sheet 193 

• Geological sheet 326 also covers the area 

 

Extract from Devon by W.G.Hoskins (1954), included by kind permission of the copyright 

holder: 

 

Hawkchurch lies in attractive hilly country rising to the Dorset Border. The name 

means "Hafoc's church," indicating the presence of a church here in pre-Conquest 

times. The present church (St. John the Baptist) though drastically restored in 1862 

(except the tower) is still of considerable interest, retaining much of its Norman 

interior. The N. arcade is 12th century; that on the S. is somewhat later (c. 1200) with 

stiff foliage and quaint figures on the square caps. The tower is stately, rising in four 

stages and bearing the arms of Cerne Abbey. It shows strong Somerset influence. 

Wyld Court is a fine late 16th century house with a much-gabled front and mullioned 

windows. It was formerly E-shaped but the W. wing has been pulled down. Over the 

porch are the arms of Moore, which also occur on two overmantels.  The builder was 

probably Robert Moore whose initials, with the date 1593, occur on a lead rainwater 

pipe.  Lambert’s Castle is a fine Iron Age hill-fort, commanding the Axe valley. 
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Heanton Punchardon 

 

Heanton Punchardon is located within North Devon local authority area. Historically it 

formed part of Braunton Hundred. It falls within Barnstaple Deanery for ecclesiastical 

purposes. The Deaneries are used to arrange the typescript Church Notes of B.F.Cresswell 

which are held in the Westcountry Studies Library.  

 

The population was 418 in 1801 404 in 1901. Figures for other years are available on the 

local studies website. In 1641/2 142 adult males signed the Protestation returns.  

 

A parish history file is held in Braunton Library. You can look for other material on the 

community by using the place search on the main local studies database. Further historical 

information is also available on the Genuki website.  

 

Maps 

The image below is of the Heanton Punchardon area on Donn's one inch to the mile survey 

of 1765. 
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Extract from Devon by W.G.Hoskins (1954), included by kind permission of the copyright 

holder: 

 

Heanton Punchardon lies on the seaward end of a sharp ridge, and commands  

very fine land and sea views.  Chivenor, a 13th century settlement, is now the  

site of a large aerodrome, chosen because it was one of the few level stretches  

of land in N. Devon. 

 

The church (St. Augustine) is finely sited on the end of the ridge.  It is almost  

entirely 15th-early 16th century in date, with a graceful W. tower.  Plastered  

and whitened throughout, well kept and wholly charming, it is a most 

 “atmospheric” country church.  The furniture is mostly inoffensive Victorian  

deal.  Many coloured mural monuments hang on the plastered walls like  
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pictures, as indeed they are: portraits of a vanished society.  The rood-screen 

was taken away at the “restoration” and put back at another.  Its 19th century  

extension across the N. aisle is completely out of keeping with the old work.   

Beyond the screen, in the N. chancel aisle, are some interesting coloured  

mural monuments to the Bassets (who lived at Heanton Court) ranging in date  

from 1635 to 1686, and there are inscribed Basset slabs in the floor.  The  

chancel is in excellent taste, with still more monuments and an elaborate  

canopied tomb, probably that of Richard Coffin (d.1523) who desired in his will  

to be buried in Heanton church.   

 

In the churchyard is the tomb of Edward Capern (1819-94), the so-called  

“Postman-poet,” whom Landor oddly called “The Burns of Devon.”  Also  

buried in this beautiful churchyard are many airmen from the Dominions  

(Canada, Australia, and New Zealand), who were stationed at Chivenor during  

the war of 1939-45.  Here, high up under a bright Attic sky, they look  

westwards down the placid Taw estuary as it opens silently out to the sea,  

homeward towards Canada where most of them belonged. 

 

Heanton Court, beside the Taw estuary, was the seat of a younger branch of  

the Bassets from the 15th century down to 1802.  It is now a farmhouse. 
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Heavitree 

 

Heavitree is located within Exeter local authority area. Historically it formed part of 

Wonford Hundred. It falls within Exeter Deanery for ecclesiastical purposes. The Deaneries 

are used to arrange the typescript Church Notes of B.F.Cresswell which are held in the 

Westcountry Studies Library.  

 

The population was 833 in 1801 7529 in 1901. Figures for other years are available on the 

local studies website.  

 

A parish history file is held in Pinhoe Library.  You can look for other material on the 

community by using the place search on the main local studies database. Further historical 

information is also available on the Genuki website.  

 

Maps 

The image here is of the Heavitree area on Donn's one inch to the mile survey of 1765. 

 

• On the County Series Ordnance Survey mapping the area is to be found on 1:2,500 

sheet 80/7  

• Six inch (1:10560) sheet 80NE 

• The National Grid reference for the centre of the area is SX939925 

• On the post 1945 National Grid Ordnance Survey mapping the sheets are: 

o Six inch to a mile (1:10,000) sheet SX99SW 

o Explorer (1:25,000) mapping sheet 114 

o Landranger (1:50,000) mapping sheet 192 

• Geological sheet 325 also covers the area 

 

Illustrations 

The image below is of Heavitree as included in the Library's illustrations collection. Other 

images can be searched for on the local studies catalogue.  
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Extract from Devon by W.G.Hoskins (1954), to be included by kind permission of the 

copyright holder: 

 

The Wonford quarry at Heavitree was drawn upon, apparently for the first time, in 

1390. From this date onwards the red sandstone quarries were vigorously worked 

for ecclesiastical and secular building in Exeter, and also for the repair of the city 

walls. 

 

 

 


